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A bill to be entitled
An act relating to enforcement of laws; providing a
short title; creating ch. 820, F.S., entitled “Illegal
Immigration”; creating ss. 820.01, 820.02, 820.03,
820.04, 820.05, 820.06, 820.07, 820.08, 820.09, and
820.10, F.S.; providing legislative findings and
intent; providing for construction and implementation
of provisions; prohibiting state or local government
policies that limit or restrict the enforcement of
federal immigration laws to less than the full extent
permitted by federal law; requiring that a law
enforcement officer determine a person’s immigration
status when there is reasonable suspicion that the
person is an alien who is unlawfully present in the
United States; requiring the transfer of a person
unlawfully present in the United States to the custody
of the appropriate United States agency when the
person 1is convicted of an offense; authorizing a law
enforcement agency to transport an alien who is
unlawfully present to a federal facility; authorizing
warrantless arrests of certain persons; authorizing an
official or agency of this state or a political
subdivision of this state to send, receive, or
maintain information relating to the immigration
status of any person or to exchange that information
with another governmental entity for certain purposes;
providing for individual actions to challenge a
governmental policy that limits or restricts the

enforcement of federal immigration laws; providing for
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costs, attorney’s fees, and civil penalties; requiring
the court to deposit the civil penalties into a
certain account within the Department of Law
Enforcement Operating Trust Fund; providing indemnity
for law enforcement officers for certain actions;
providing an exception; providing that an alien who is
unlawfully present in the United States commits an
illegal trespass if present in this state; providing
for final determination of an alien’s immigration
status; requiring that an unlawfully present alien pay
the costs of incarceration and additional assessments;
providing for disposition of assessments; providing
criminal penalties; providing enhanced penalties for
certain violations; prohibiting transporting, or
providing services that facilitate transporting, into
this state an individual who the person knows, or
should know, is illegally entering the United States;
defining terms; providing criminal penalties;
prohibiting intentionally engaging in the smuggling of
human beings for profit or commercial purpose;
providing criminal penalties; providing enhanced
penalties for certain violations; providing that
provisions relating to attempt, solicitation, and
conspiracy do not apply to certain violations;
authorizing a law enforcement officer to stop any
person who is operating a motor vehicle if the officer
has reasonable suspicion to believe the person is in
violation of any noncriminal traffic law and smuggling

provisions; defining terms; prohibiting an occupant of
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a motor vehicle from stopping to hire and pick up
persons for work in certain situations; prohibiting a
person looking for work from entering certain vehicles
in certain situations; prohibiting a person unlawfully
present in the United States from applying for work,
soliciting work in a public place, or performing work;
providing criminal penalties; prohibiting the
transporting, moving, concealing, harboring, or
shielding of aliens unlawfully present in the United
States; prohibiting inducing or encouraging an alien
to come to, or reside in, this state in violation of
law; providing for the seizure and forfeiture of
specified property; providing criminal penalties;
providing enhanced penalties for certain violations;
prohibiting an employer from knowingly employing
unauthorized aliens; requiring the Attorney General to
prepare a complaint form to be used by a person
alleging a violation of the act; authorizing a
complainant to file a complaint without listing a
social security number or having the form notarized;
providing for the investigation of complaints filed
alleging violations of the act; prohibiting the
Attorney General or state attorney from investigating
complaints that are based solely on race, color, or
national origin; requiring that a complaint form that
is submitted to a state attorney be submitted to the
state attorney for the county in which the alien is,
or was, employed; authorizing the sheriff or local law

enforcement agency to investigate a complaint;
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88 requiring that the Attorney General or state attorney
89 verify the work authorization status with the Federal
90 Government; prohibiting a state, county, or local
91 official from independently making a final
92 determination on an alien’s work authorization status;
93 prohibiting the submission of false reports of
94 violations of the act; providing criminal penalties;
95 requiring that the Attorney General or state attorney
96 take specified actions if the complaint is determined
97 not to be false and frivolous; providing for sanctions
98 against violators of the act; prohibiting the state
99 attorney from bringing an action against an employer
100 if the violation occurred on or before a certain date;
101 requiring that the court order appropriate agencies to
102 suspend the licenses of an employer for a first
103 violation i1if a specified affidavit is not filed within
104 the specified period of time; requiring that the
105 appropriate agencies suspend an employer’s licenses
106 upon receipt of the court order; requiring that the
107 court send a copy of the court order to the Attorney
108 General; requiring that the Attorney General maintain
109 copies of certain court orders; requiring that the
110 court consider certain factors before suspending a
111 license; requiring that the court order appropriate
112 agencies to permanently revoke an employer’s licenses
113 for a second or subsequent violation of the act;
114 requiring that appropriate agencies revoke an
115 employer’s licenses upon receipt of the court order;
116 requiring that the Attorney General maintain a certain
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117 database and make certain court orders available on
118 the website; requiring that the court consider only
119 the Federal Government’s determination of an
120 employee’s work authorization status; creating a
121 rebuttable presumption in favor of employers who
122 verify the employment authorization of an employee
123 through a specified program; providing an affirmative
124 defense for an employer who complies with specified
125 federal law provisions; providing requirements for an
126 employer’s defense of entrapment; prohibiting an
127 employer from intentionally employing an alien
128 unauthorized to be in this country; requiring that the
129 Attorney General prepare a complaint form to be used
130 by a person alleging a violation of the act; providing
131 for the investigation of complaints filed alleging
132 violations of the act; prohibiting the submission of
133 false reports of violations of the act; providing
134 criminal penalties; requiring specified actions if the
135 complaint is determined not to be false and frivolous;
136 requiring that the court expedite the action;
137 providing for sanctions against violators of the act,
138 including the suspension of the licenses of an
139 employer found to have committed a violation of the
140 act; requiring the permanent revocation of the
141 licenses of an employer found to have committed a
142 second or subsequent violation; requiring that the
143 Attorney General maintain copies of certain court
144 orders; requiring that the court consider only the
145 Federal Government’s determination of an employee’s
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146 work authorization status; creating a rebuttable
147 presumption in favor of an employer who verifies the
148 employment authorization of an employee through a
149 specified program; providing an affirmative defense
150 for an employer who complies with specified federal
151 law provisions; providing requirements for an
152 employer’s defense of entrapment; requiring an
153 employer to verify the employment eligibility of a new
154 employee through a specified federal program and to
155 keep specified records; requiring an employer who
156 participates in an economic development incentive
157 program from a governmental entity to register with,
158 and participate in, a specified federal program for
159 employment verification; providing definitions;
160 requiring that the Attorney General periodically
161 obtain a list of employers from this state who are
162 registered with a specified federal employment
163 verification program and make the list available on
164 its website; creating s. 932.709, F.S.; providing for
165 removal and immobilization or impoundment of vehicles
166 under specified circumstances; providing exceptions;
167 requiring immobilization or impoundment for a
168 specified period in certain circumstances; providing
169 for hearings; creating s. 943.0425, F.S.; creating the
170 Gang and Immigration Intelligence and Enforcement
171 Account within the Department of Law Enforcement
172 Operating Trust Fund; providing purposes for funds;
173 repealing s. 787.07, F.S., relating to human
174 smuggling; providing an effective date.
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175
176| Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida:
177
178 Section 1. Short title.—This act may be cited as the

179 “Support Our Law Enforcement and Safe Neighborhoods Act.”

180 Section 2. Chapter 820, Florida Statutes, consisting of
181 sections 820.01, 820.02, 820.03, 820.04, 820.05, 820.06, 820.07,
182 820.08, 820.09, and 820.10, 1is created to read:

183 CHAPTER 820
184 ILLEGAL IMMIGRATION
185 820.01 Findings and intent.—The Legislature finds that

186 there is a compelling interest in the cooperative enforcement of

187 federal immigration laws throughout the state. It is the intent

188 of the Legislature to make attrition through enforcement the

189 public policy of all state and local governmental agencies. This

190 chapter is intended to work to discourage and deter the unlawful

191| entry and presence of, and economic activity by, illegal

192 immigrants in the United States.

193 820.02 Construction and implementation.—

194 (1) The terms of this chapter regarding immigration shall

195| have the same meaning as provided in federal immigration law.

196 (2) This chapter shall be implemented in a manner

197 consistent with federal laws regulating immigration, protecting

198 the civil rights of all persons, and respecting the privileges

199 and immunities of United States citizens.

200 820.03 Enforcement of immigration laws.—

201 (1) An official or agency of this state or a political

202 subdivision of this state may not adopt a policy that limits or

203 restricts the enforcement of federal immigration laws to less
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than the full extent permitted by federal law.

(2) A law enforcement agency shall make a reasonable

attempt, when practicable, to determine the immigration status

of a person if reasonable suspicion exists that the person is an

alien who is unlawfully present in the United States. The

person’s immigration status shall be verified by the Federal

Government pursuant to 8 U.S.C. s. 1373 (c).

(3) If an alien who is unlawfully present in the United

States is convicted of a violation of a state or local law, upon

discharge from imprisonment or payment of a fine imposed on the

alien, the alien shall be transferred immediately to the custody

of the United States Immigration and Customs Enforcement or the

United States Customs and Border Protection.

(4) Notwithstanding any other law, a law enforcement agency

may securely transport an alien who is unlawfully present in the

United States and who is in the agency’s custody to a federal

facility in this state or to any other point of transfer into

federal custody which is outside the jurisdiction of the law

enforcement agency.

(5) A law enforcement officer, without a warrant, may

arrest a person if the officer has probable cause to believe

that the person is unlawfully present in the United States and

has committed any offense that makes the person removable from

the United States.

(6) Except as provided in federal law, an official or

agency of this state or a political subdivision of this state

may, without restriction, send, receive, or maintain information

relating to the immigration status of a person, or exchange that

information with a federal, state, or local governmental entity
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for the following official purposes:

(a) Determining eligibility for any public benefit,

service, or license provided by a federal, state, or local

governmental entity or a political subdivision of this state.

(b) Verifying a claim of residence or domicile if

determining the residence or domicile of the person is required

under the laws of this state or a judicial order issued pursuant

to a civil or criminal proceeding in this state.

(c) Confirming the identity of a person who is detained.

(d) If the person is an alien, determining if the person is

in compliance with the federal registration laws prescribed by 8

U.S.C. ss. 1301 et seq.

(7) A person may bring an action in circuit court to

challenge an official or agency of this state or a political

subdivision of this state which adopts or implements a policy

that limits or restricts the enforcement of federal immigration

laws to less than the full extent permitted by federal law. If

there is a judicial finding that an agency of this state or a

political subdivision of this state has violated this section,

the court shall order any of the following:

(a) That the person who brought the action recover court

costs and attorney’s fees.

(b) That the agency of this state or the political

subdivision of this state pay a civil penalty of not less than

$1,000 and not more than $5,000 for each day that the policy has

remained in effect after the filing of an action pursuant to

this subsection.

(8) A court shall collect the civil penalty prescribed in

subsection (7) and remit the civil penalty to the Department of
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Law Enforcement for deposit into the Gang and Immigration

Intelligence and Enforcement Account within the Department of

Law Enforcement Operating Trust Fund as provided in s. 943.0425.

(9) A law enforcement officer shall be indemnified by the

law enforcement officer’s agency against reasonable costs and

expenses, including attorney’s fees, incurred by the officer in

connection with any action, suit, or proceeding brought pursuant

to this section to which the officer may be a party by reason of

the officer being or having been a member of the law enforcement

agency, except in relation to matters in which the officer acted

in bad faith.

820.04 Trespassing by illegal aliens.—

(1) In addition to any violation of federal law, a person

commits an illegal trespass if the person is:

(a) Present on any public or private land in this state;

and

(b) In violation of 8 U.S.C. s. 1304 (e) or s. 1306 (a).

(2) In enforcing this section, the final determination of

an alien’s immigration status shall be determined by a law

enforcement officer or agency that:

(a) Is authorized by the Federal Government to verify an

alien’s immigration status; or

(b) Communicates with the United States Immigration and

Customs Enforcement or the United States Customs and Border

Protection pursuant to 8 U.S.C. s. 1373(c).

(3) This section does not apply to a person who possesses

proof of authorization from the Federal Government to remain in

the United States.

(4) A person who is sentenced pursuant to this section is
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not eligible for suspension or commutation of sentence or

release on any basis until the sentence imposed is served.

(5) (a) In addition to any other penalty prescribed by law,

the court shall order the person to pay the costs of

incarceration and an additional assessment in the following

amounts:

1. At least $500 for a first wviolation.

2. Twice the amount specified in subparagraph 1. if the

person was previously subject to an assessment pursuant to this

subsection.

(b) A court shall collect the assessments prescribed in

this subsection and remit the assessments to the Gang and

Immigration Intelligence and Enforcement Account within the

Department of Law Enforcement Operating Trust Fund as provided

in s. 943.0425.

(6) Except as provided in paragraph (a) or paragraph (b), a

violation of this section is a misdemeanor of the first degree,

punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. However, a

violation of this section is:

(a) A felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in
s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084, if the person violates

this section while in possession of any of the following:

1. Precursor chemicals that are used in the manufacturing

of methamphetamine in violation of s. 893.149.

2. A firearm or weapon as defined in s. 790.001.

3. Property that is used for the purpose of committing an

act of terrorism as defined in s. 775.30.

(b) A felony of the second degree, punishable as provided
in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084, if the person:
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320 1. Is convicted of a second or subsequent violation of this

321 section; or

322 2. Within 60 months before the present violation, was

323 removed from the United States pursuant to 8 U.S.C. s. 1229a or

324 accepted a voluntary removal from the United States pursuant to

325 8 U.S.C. s. 1229c.

326 820.05 Smuggling; classification; definitions.—
327 (1) As used in this section, the term:
328 (a) “Drop house” means real property that is used to

329 facilitate smuggling under this section.

330 (b) “Family member” means a parent, grandparent, sibling,

331 or any other person related to a person by consanguinity or

332 affinity to the second degree.

333 (c) “Procures transportation” means any participation in,

334 or facilitation of, transportation and includes providing:

335 1. Services that facilitate transportation, including

336 travel arrangement services or money transmission services.

337 2. Property that facilitates transportation, including a

338 weapon, a false identification card, fuel, or a vehicle or other

339| means of transportation, or selling, leasing, renting, or

340 otherwise making a drop house available to the smuggler.

341 (d) “Smuggling of human beings” means procuring

342 transportation or use of real property by a person who knows, or

343 has reason to know, that the individual or individuals

344 transported or to be transported are not United States citizens,

345| permanent resident aliens, or individuals otherwise lawfully

346 admitted to this country or that the individual or individuals

347 have attempted to enter, entered, or remained in the United

348 States 1n violation of law.
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(2) (a) A person who procures transportation for an

individual who the person knows, or has reason to know, is

illegally entering the United States from another country

commits a misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083.

(b) A person commits a separate offense for each individual

he or she procures transportation for into this state in

violation of this section.

(3) (a) A person may not intentionally engage in the

smuggling of human beings for profit or commercial purpose.

(b) Except as provided in subparagraph 1. or subparagraph

2., a violation of paragraph (a) is a felony of the third

degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s.

775.084. However, a violation of paragraph (a) is:

1. A felony of the second degree, punishable as provided in

s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084, if the human being who is

smuggled is 18 years of age or younger and is not accompanied by

a family member who is at least 18 years of age and if the

offense involves the use of a deadly weapon or dangerous

instrument.

2. A felony of the first degree, punishable as provided in
s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084, if the offense involves

the use or threatened use of deadly physical force.

(4) Section 777.04 does not apply to a violation of

subparagraph (3) (b)1.

(5) Notwithstanding any other law, a law enforcement

officer may stop a person who is operating a motor vehicle if

the officer has reasonable suspicion to believe the person is in

violation of a noncriminal traffic law and this section.
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378 820.06 Unlawful stopping to hire and pick up passengers for
379! work; unlawful application, solicitation, or employment.—
380 (1) As used in this section, the term:
381 (a) “Solicit” means verbal or nonverbal communication,

382 including a gesture or a nod, which would indicate to a

383 reasonable person that a person is willing to be employed.

384 (b) “Unauthorized alien” means an alien who does not have

385 the legal right or authorization under federal law to work in

386 the United States.

387 (2) An occupant of a motor vehicle may not stop on a

388 street, roadway, or highway in order to attempt to hire or in

389 order to hire and pick up passengers for work at a different

390 location if the motor vehicle obstructs the normal movement of

391 traffic.

392 (3) A person may not enter a motor vehicle that stops on a

393 street, roadway, or highway in order to be hired by an occupant

394 of the motor vehicle and to be transported to work at a

395 different location if the motor wvehicle obstructs the normal

396 movement of traffic.

397 (4) A person who is unlawfully present in the United States

398 and who is an unauthorized alien may not knowingly apply for

399| work, solicit work in a public place, or perform work as an

400 employee or independent contractor in this state.

401 (5) A person who violates this section commits a

402| misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as provided in s.

403 775.082 or s. 775.083.

404 820.07 Unlawful transporting, moving, concealing,

405| harboring, or shielding of unlawfully present alien.—

406 (1) A person may not:
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(a) Transport or move, or attempt to transport or move, in

this state an alien who is unlawfully present in the United

States if the person knows or recklessly disregards the fact

that the alien has entered, or remains in, the United States in

violation of law.

(b) Conceal, harbor, or shield, or attempt to conceal,

harbor, or shield, an alien from detection in any place in this

state, including a building or a means of transportation, if the

person knows or recklessly disregards the fact that the alien

has entered, or remains in, the United States in violation of

law.

(c) Encourage or induce an alien to come to, or reside in,

this state if the person knows or recklessly disregards the fact

that, by coming to, or residing in, this state, the alien is or

will be in violation of law.

(2) A motor vehicle, vessel, or aircraft that is used to

commit a violation of subsection (1) is subject to seizure and

forfeiture under s. 932.7009.

(3) (a) A person who violates subsection (1) commits a

misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as provided in s.

775.082, and is subject to a fine of not less than $1,000 and
not more than $5,000.

(b) A person who violates subsection (1), which violation

involves 10 or more aliens unlawfully present in the United

States, commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083, and is subject to a fine

of not less than $1,000 and not more than $2,000 for each alien.

820.08 Knowingly employing unauthorized aliens; false and

frivolous complaints; license suspension and revocation;
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affirmative defense.—

(1) (a) An employer may not knowingly employ an unauthorized

alien.

(b) An employer violates paragraph (a) i1if the employer uses

a contract, subcontract, or other independent contractor

agreement to obtain the labor of an unauthorized alien in this

state or if the employer knowingly contracts with a person who

employs or contracts with an unauthorized alien to perform the

labor.

(2) (a) The Attorney General shall develop a complaint form

to be used by a person who alleges that an employer has

violated, or is violating, subsection (1).

(b) The complainant is not required to list the

complainant’s social security number on the complaint form or to

have the complaint form notarized.

(c)1l. Upon receipt of a proper complaint form alleging that

an employer knowingly employs an unauthorized alien, the

Attorney General or state attorney shall investigate whether the

employer has violated subsection (1).

2. If a complaint is received but is not submitted on a

proper complaint form, the Attorney General or state attorney

may investigate whether the employer has violated subsection

(1) .

3. This subsection does not prohibit the filing of an

anonymous complaint that is not submitted on a proper complaint

form.

(d) The Attorney General or state attorney may not

investigate complaints that are based solely on race, color, or

national origin.
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(e) A complaint form that is submitted to a state attorney

must be submitted to the state attorney for the county in which

the alleged unauthorized alien is, or was, employed by the

employer. The sheriff or any other local law enforcement agency

in that county may assist in investigating the complaint.

(f) When investigating a complaint, the Attorney General or

state attorney shall verify with the Federal Government the work

authorization status of the alleged unauthorized alien. A state,

county, or local official may not attempt to independently make

a final determination of whether an alien is authorized to work.

An alien’s immigration status or work authorization status shall

be verified with the Federal Government pursuant to 8 U.S.C. s.
1373 (c) .

(g) A person who knowingly files a false and frivolous

complaint under this subsection commits a misdemeanor of the

second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s.

775.083.

(3) If, after an investigation, the Attorney General or

state attorney determines that the complaint is not false and

frivolous:

(a) The Attorney General or state attorney shall notify the

United States Immigration and Customs Enforcement of the

existence of the unauthorized alien.

(b) The Attorney General or state attorney shall notify the

local law enforcement agency of the existence and location, if

known, of the unauthorized alien.

(c) If the complaint was originally filed with the Attorney

General, the Attorney General shall notify the appropriate state

attorney to bring an action pursuant to subsection (4).
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494 (4) (a) An action alleging a violation of subsection (1)

495 shall be brought against an employer by the state attorney in

496 the county where the unauthorized alien employee is, or was,

497 employed by the employer.

498 (b) The state attorney may not bring an action against an

499 employer for a violation of subsection (1) if the wviolation

500 occurred on or before January 1, 2012.

501 (5) For any action filed in circuit court under this

502 section, the court shall expedite the action, including

503| assigning the hearing at the earliest practicable date.

504 (6) If the court finds that the employer violated

505 subsection (1):

506 (a) For a first violation, the court:

507 1. Shall order the employer to terminate the employment of

508 all unauthorized aliens.

509 2. Shall order the employer to be subject to a 3-year

510| probationary period for the business location at which the

511 unauthorized alien performed work.

512 3.a. Shall order the employer to file a signed, sworn

513 affidavit with the state attorney within 3 business days after

514 the court order is issued. The affidavit shall state that the

515 employer has terminated the employment of all unauthorized

516| aliens in this state and that the employer will not

517 intentionally or knowingly employ an unauthorized alien in this

518 state. If the employer fails to file the affidavit with the

519 state attorney within the allotted time, the court shall order

520 the appropriate agencies to suspend all licenses that are held

521| by the employer. Any license that is suspended under this

522 subparagraph remains suspended until the employer files the
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523| affidavit with the state attorney. Notwithstanding any other

524 law, the filing of the affidavit immediately reinstates the

525 suspended licenses. For the purposes of this subparagraph, the

526 licenses that are subject to suspension under this subparagraph

527 are all licenses that are held by the employer and are specific

528 to the business location where the unauthorized alien performed

529 work.

530 b. If the employer does not hold a license that is specific

531 to the business location at which the unauthorized alien

532| performed work, but a license is necessary to operate the

533 employer’s business in general, the licenses that are subject to

534 suspension under this subparagraph are all licenses that are

535! held by the employer at the employer’s primary place of

536 business.

537 c. Upon receipt of the court order and notwithstanding any

538 other law, the appropriate agencies shall suspend the employer’s

539 licenses according to the court order. The court shall send a

540 copy of the court order to the Attorney General, and the

541| Attorney General shall maintain the copy pursuant to subsection

542 (7).

543 4. May order the appropriate agencies to suspend, for a

544| period not to exceed 10 business days, all licenses described in

545 subparagraph 3. which are held by the employer. Before

546 suspending a license, the court shall consider the following

547 factors, if relevant:

548 a. The number of unauthorized aliens employed by the

549 employer.

550 b. Any prior immigration misconduct by the employer.

551 c. The degree of harm resulting from the violation.
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d. Any good faith effort the employer made in order to

comply with any applicable requirements.

e. The duration of the wviolation.

f. The role of the directors, officers, or principals of

the employer in the violation.

g. Any other factors the court deems appropriate.

(b)1. For a second or subsequent violation, the court shall

order the appropriate agencies to permanently revoke all

licenses that are held by the employer and that are specific to

the business location at which the unauthorized alien performed

work.

2. If the employer does not hold a license that is specific

to the business location where the unauthorized alien performed

work, but a license is necessary to operate the employer’s

business in general, the court shall order the appropriate

agencies to permanently revoke all licenses that are held by the

employer at the employer’s primary place of business.

3. Upon receipt of the order and notwithstanding any other

law, the appropriate agencies shall immediately revoke the

licenses.

(c) A violation of subsection (1) is:

1. A first violation by an employer at a business location

if the violation did not occur during a probationary period

ordered by the court under this subsection or s. 820.09(6) for

that employer’s business location.

2. A second violation by an employer at a business location

if the violation occurred during a probationary period ordered

by the court under this subsection or s. 820.09(6) for that

employer’s business location.
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581 (7) The Attorney General shall maintain copies of court

582 orders that are received pursuant to subsection (6) and shall

583 maintain a database of the employers and business locations that

584 have a first violation of subsection (1) and make the court

585 orders available on the Attorney General’s website.

586 (8) When determining whether an employee is an unauthorized

587 alien, the court shall consider only the Federal Government’s

588 determination pursuant to 8 U.S.C. s. 1373(c). The Federal

589 Government’s determination creates a rebuttable presumption of

590 the employee’s lawful status. The court may take judicial notice

591 of the Federal Government’s determination and may request the

592 Federal Government to provide automated or testimonial

593| wverification pursuant to 8 U.S.C. s. 1373(c).

594 (9) For the purposes of this section:

595 (a) Proof of the employer’s participation in the E-Verify

596| program creates a rebuttable presumption that an employer did

597 not knowingly employ an unauthorized alien.

598 (b) An employer who establishes that he or she has complied
599 in good faith with the requirements of 8 U.S.C. s. 1324a(b)

600 establishes an affirmative defense that the employer did not

601 knowingly employ an unauthorized alien. An employer is

602 considered to have complied with the requirements of 8 U.S.C. s.

603 1324a(b), notwithstanding an isolated, sporadic, or accidental

604 technical or procedural failure to meet the requirements, if

605 there is a good faith attempt to comply with the requirements.

606 (10) An employer may claim as an affirmative defense to a

607| wviolation of subsection (1) that the employer was entrapped. In

608 order to claim entrapment, the employer must admit by the

609 employer’s testimony or other evidence the substantial elements
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of the violation. An employer who asserts an entrapment defense

has the burden of proving all of the following by clear and

convincing evidence:

(a) The idea of committing the violation started with law

enforcement officers or their agents rather than with the

employer.

(b) The law enforcement officers or their agents urged and

induced the employer to commit the violation.

(c) The employer was not predisposed to commit the

violation before the law enforcement officers or their agents

urged and induced the employer to commit the violation.

(11) An employer does not establish entrapment if the

employer was predisposed to violate subsection (1) and the law

enforcement officers or their agents merely provided the

employer with an opportunity to commit the violation. It is not

entrapment for law enforcement officers or their agents to

merely use a ruse or conceal their identity. The conduct of law

enforcement officers and their agents may be considered in

determining if an employer has proven entrapment.

820.09 Intentionally employing unauthorized aliens; false

and frivolous complaints; license suspension and revocation;

affirmative defense.—

(1) (a) An employer may not intentionally employ an

unauthorized alien.

(b) An employer violates paragraph (a) if the employer uses

a contract, subcontract, or other independent contractor

agreement to obtain the labor of an unauthorized alien in this

state or if the employer intentionally contracts with a person

who employs or contracts with an unauthorized alien to perform
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the labor.
(2) (a) The Attorney General shall develop a complaint form

to be used by a person who alleges that an employer has

violated, or is violating, subsection (1).

(b) The complainant is not required to list the

complainant’s social security number on the complaint form or to

have the complaint form notarized.

(c)1l. Upon receipt of a proper complaint form alleging that

an employer knowingly employs an unauthorized alien, the

Attorney General or state attorney shall investigate whether the

employer has violated subsection (1).

2. If a complaint is received but is not submitted on a

proper complaint form, the Attorney General or state attorney

may investigate whether the employer has violated subsection

(1) .

3. This subsection does not prohibit the filing of an

anonymous complaint that is not submitted on a proper complaint

form.

(d) The Attorney General or state attorney may not

investigate complaints that are based solely on race, color, or

national origin.

(e) A complaint form that is submitted to a state attorney

must be submitted to the state attorney for the county in which

the alleged unauthorized alien is, or was, employed by the

employer. The sheriff or any other local law enforcement agency

in that county may assist in investigating a complaint.

(f) When investigating a complaint, the Attorney General or

state attorney shall verify with the Federal Government the work

authorization status of the alleged unauthorized alien. A state,
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county, or local official may not attempt to independently make

a final determination on whether an alien is authorized to work.

An alien’s immigration status or work authorization status shall

be verified with the Federal Government pursuant to 8 U.S.C. s.
1373 (c) .

(g) A person who knowingly files a false and frivolous

complaint under this subsection commits a misdemeanor of the

second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s.

775.083.

(3) If, after an investigation, the Attorney General or

state attorney determines that the complaint is not false and

frivolous:

(a) The Attorney General or state attorney shall notify the

United States Immigration and Customs Enforcement of the

existence of the unauthorized alien.

(b) The Attorney General or state attorney shall notify the

local law enforcement agency of the existence and location, if

known, of the unauthorized alien.

(c) If the complaint was originally filed with the Attorney

General, the Attorney General shall notify the appropriate state

attorney to bring an action pursuant to subsection (4).

(4) (a) An action alleging a violation of subsection (1)

shall be brought against an employer by the state attorney in

the county where the unauthorized alien employee is, or was,

employed by the employer.

(b) The state attorney may not bring an action against an

employer for a violation of subsection (1) if the violation

occurred on or before January 1, 2012.

(5) For any action filed in circuit court under this
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section, the court shall expedite the action, including

assigning the hearing at the earliest practicable date.

(6) If the court finds that the employer violated

subsection (1):

(a) For a first violation, the court:

1. Shall order the employer to terminate the employment of

all unauthorized aliens.

2. Shall order the employer to be subject to a 3-year

probationary period for the business location at which the

unauthorized alien performed work.

3.a. Shall order the employer to file a signed, sworn

affidavit with the state attorney within 3 business days after

the court order is issued. The affidavit shall state that the

employer has terminated the employment of all unauthorized

aliens in this state and that the employer will not

intentionally or knowingly employ an unauthorized alien in this

state. If the employer fails to file the affidavit with the

state attorney within the allotted time, the court shall order

the appropriate agencies to suspend all licenses that are held

by the employer. Any license that is suspended under this

subparagraph remains suspended until the employer files the

affidavit with the state attorney. Notwithstanding any other

law, the filing of the affidavit immediately reinstates the

suspended licenses. For the purposes of this subparagraph, the

licenses that are subject to suspension under this subparagraph

are all licenses that are held by the employer and are specific

to the business location where the unauthorized alien performed

work.

b. If the employer does not hold a license that is specific
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to the business location at which the unauthorized alien

performed work, but a license is necessary to operate the

employer’s business in general, the licenses that are subject to

suspension under this subparagraph are all licenses that are

held by the employer at the employer’s primary place of

business.

c. Upon receipt of the court order and notwithstanding any

other law, the appropriate agencies shall suspend the employer’s

licenses according to the court order. The court shall send a

copy of the court order to the Attorney General, and the

Attorney General shall maintain the copy pursuant to subsection
(7).

4. May order the appropriate agencies to suspend, for a

period not to exceed 10 business days, all licenses described in

subparagraph 3. which are held by the employer. Before

suspending a license, the court shall consider the following

factors, if relevant:

a. The number of unauthorized aliens employed by the

employer.

b. Any prior immigration misconduct by the employer.

c. The degree of harm resulting from the violation.

d. Any good faith effort the employer made in order to

comply with any applicable requirements.

e. The duration of the violation.

f. The role of the directors, officers, or principals of

the employer in the violation.

g. Any other factors the court deems appropriate.

(b)1. For a second or subsequent violation, the court shall

order the appropriate agencies to permanently revoke all
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licenses that are held by the employer and that are specific to

the business location at which the unauthorized alien performed

work.

2. If the employer does not hold a license that is specific

to the business location where the unauthorized alien performed

work, but a license is necessary to operate the employer’s

business in general, the court shall order the appropriate

agencies to permanently revoke all licenses that are held by the

employer at the employer’s primary place of business.

3. Upon receipt of the order and notwithstanding any other

law, the appropriate agencies shall immediately revoke the

licenses.

(c) A violation of subsection (1) is:

1. A first violation by an employer at a business location

if the violation did not occur during a probationary period

ordered by the court under this subsection or s. 820.08(6) for

that employer’s business location.

2. A second violation by an employer at a business location

if the violation occurred during a probationary period ordered

by the court under this subsection or s. 820.08(6) for that

employer’s business location.

(7) The Attorney General shall maintain copies of court

orders that are received pursuant to subsection (6) and shall

maintain a database of the employers and business locations that

have a first violation of subsection (1) and make the court

orders available on the Attorney General’s website.

(8) When determining whether an employee is an unauthorized

alien, the court shall consider only the Federal Government’s

determination pursuant to 8 U.S.C. s. 1373(c). The Federal
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784 Government’s determination creates a rebuttable presumption of

785 the employee’s lawful status. The court may take judicial notice

786 of the Federal Government’s determination and may request the

787 Federal Government to provide automated or testimonial

788 verification pursuant to 8 U.S.C. s. 1373 (c).

789 (9) For the purposes of this section:

790 (a) Proof of the employer’s participation in the E-Verify

791| program creates a rebuttable presumption that an employer did

792 not knowingly employ an unauthorized alien.

793 (b) An employer who establishes that he or she has complied

794 in good faith with the requirements of 8 U.S.C. s. 1324a(b)

795| establishes an affirmative defense that the employer did not

796 knowingly employ an unauthorized alien. An employer is

797 considered to have complied with the requirements of 8 U.S.C. s.

798 1324a (b), notwithstanding an isolated, sporadic, or accidental

799| technical or procedural failure to meet the requirements, if

800 there is a good faith attempt to comply with the regquirements.

801 (10) An employer may claim as an affirmative defense to a

802 violation of subsection (1) that the employer was entrapped. In

803 order to claim entrapment, the employer must admit by the

804 employer’s testimony or other evidence the substantial elements

805 of the violation. An employer who asserts an entrapment defense

806| has the burden of proving all of the following by clear and

807 convincing evidence:

808 (a) The idea of committing the violation started with law

809| enforcement officers or their agents rather than with the

810 employer.

811 (b) The law enforcement officers or their agents urged and

812 induced the employer to commit the violation.
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813 (c) The employer was not predisposed to commit the

814 violation before the law enforcement officers or their agents

815 urged and induced the employer to commit the violation.

816 (11) An employer does not establish entrapment if the

817 employer was predisposed to violate subsection (1) and the law

818 enforcement officers or their agents merely provided the

819 employer with an opportunity to commit the violation. It is not

820 entrapment for law enforcement officers or their agents to

821| merely use a ruse or conceal their identity. The conduct of law

822 enforcement officers and their agents may be considered in

823 determining if an employer has proven entrapment.

824 820.10 Verification of employment eligibility; E-Verify;

825 economic development incentives; list of registered employers.-—

826 (1) On and after December 31, 2011, every employer, after

827 hiring an employee, shall verify the employment eligibility of

828 the employee through the E-Verify program of the Department of

829 Homeland Security and shall keep a record of the verification

830 for the duration of the employee’s employment or at least 3

831 years, whichever is longer.

832 (2) In order for an employer to be eligible for, or to

833 receive, an economic development incentive grant from a

834 governmental entity, the employer shall register with, and

835| participate in, the E-Verify program. The employer shall provide

836| proof to the governmental entity that the employer is registered

837| with, and is participating in, the E-Verify program. If the

838| governmental entity determines that the employer is not

839 complying with this subsection, the governmental entity shall

840 notify the employer by certified mail of the governmental

841| entity’s determination of noncompliance and the employer’s right
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to appeal the determination. On a final determination of

noncompliance, the employer shall repay all moneys received as

an economic development incentive grant to the governmental

entity within 30 days after the final determination.

(3) As used in this section, the term:

(a) “Economic development incentive grant” means any grant,

loan, or performance-based incentive from any governmental

entity which is awarded on or after July 1, 2011. The term does

not include any tax provision under Title XIV of the Social

Security Act.

(b) “Governmental entity” means this state and any

political subdivision of this state which receives and uses tax

revenues.

(4) Every 3 months the Attorney General shall request from

the United States Department of Homeland Security a list of

employers from this state who are registered with the E-Verify

program. Upon receipt of the list of employers, the Attorney

General shall make the list available on the Attorney General’s

website.
Section 3. Section 932.709, Florida Statutes, is created to
read:

932.709 Removal and immobilization or impoundment of

vehicle.—

(1) A law enforcement officer shall remove and immobilize

or impound a vehicle if the law enforcement officer determines

that a person is driving the vehicle while any of the following

applies:

(a) The person’s driving privilege is suspended or revoked

for any reason.
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(b) The person has not been issued a valid driver’s license

or permit by this state and does not produce evidence of ever

having a valid driver’s license or permit issued by another

jurisdiction. This paragraph does not apply to the operation of

an implement of husbandry.

(c) The person has been ordered to install an ignition

interlock device pursuant to s. 316.1937 or s. 322.2715, and the

person operating the vehicle has disabled or removed the

ignition interlock device.

(d) The person commits a criminal offense by transporting,

moving, concealing, harboring, or shielding, or attempting to

transport, move, conceal, harbor, or shield, an alien in this

state in a vehicle if the person knows or recklessly disregards

the fact that the alien has entered, or remains in, the United

States in violation of law.

(2) A law enforcement officer shall remove and impound a

vehicle if the law enforcement officer determines that a person

is driving the vehicle and that all of the following apply:

(a) The person’s driving privilege is canceled, suspended,

or revoked for any reason, or the person has never been issued a

driver’s license or permit by this state and the person does not

produce evidence of ever having a driver’s license or permit

issued by another jurisdiction.

(b) The person is not in compliance with the financial

responsibility requirements of chapter 324.

(c) The person is driving a vehicle that is involved in an

accident that results in property damage or injury to, or death

of, another person.

(3) Except as provided in subsection (4), while a law
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enforcement officer has control of the vehicle, the law

enforcement officer shall remove, immobilize, or impound the

vehicle if the law enforcement officer has probable cause to

arrest the driver of the vehicle for a violation of s. 316.193
or s. 322.206l6.

(4) A law enforcement officer may not remove, immobilize,

or impound a vehicle pursuant to subsection (3) if all of the

following apply:

(a) The law enforcement officer determines that the vehicle

is currently registered and that the driver or the vehicle is in

compliance with the financial responsibility requirements of

chapter 324.

(b) The spouse of the driver is with the driver at the time

of the arrest.

(c) The law enforcement officer has reasonable grounds to

believe that the spouse of the driver:

1. Has a valid driver’s license.

2. Is not impaired by an intoxicating liquor, a drug, a

vapor-releasing substance containing a toxic substance, or a

combination of liquor, drugs, or vapor-releasing substances.

3. Does not have any spirituous liquor in his or her body

if the spouse is under 21 years of age.

(d) The spouse notifies the law enforcement officer that

the spouse will drive the vehicle from the place of arrest to

the driver’s home or other place of safety.

(5) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, a vehicle

that is removed, immobilized, or impounded pursuant to

subsection (1), subsection (2), or subsection (3) shall be

immobilized or impounded for 30 days. An insurance company does
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not have a duty to pay any benefits for charges or fees for

immobilization or impoundment.

(6) The owner of a vehicle that is removed, immobilized, or

impounded pursuant to subsection (1), subsection (2), or

subsection (3), the spouse of the owner, and each person

identified on the records of the Department of Highway Safety

and Motor Vehicles who has an interest in the vehicle shall be

provided with an opportunity for a hearing pursuant to s.
316.193.
Section 4. Section 943.0425, Florida Statutes, 1s created

to read:

943.0425 Gang and Immigration Intelligence and Enforcement

Account.—There is created the Gang and Immigration Intelligence

and Enforcement Account within the Department of Law Enforcement

Operating Trust Fund. Funds in the account are subject to

legislative appropriation for the purpose of providing emergency

supplemental funds to gang and immigration enforcement and for

reimbursement of county jail costs relating to illegal

immigration.

Section 5. Section 787.07, Florida Statutes, is repealed.

Section 6. This act shall take effect July 1, 2011.
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